

NAME AND GOVERNMENT OF ORGANIZATION

This organization shall be called "The Board of Trustees of the Winnetka-Northfield Public Library District," Cook County, Illinois, ("the Board") existing by virtue of the provisions of the laws of the State of Illinois, and exercising the powers and authority and assuming the responsibilities delegated to it under these statutes.

Statutory Authority

All matters of membership, election, duties, powers etc., of the Board are governed by Illinois Compiled Statutes, Chapter 75, Act 16, *The Illinois Public Library District Act of 1991*.

Purpose of Bylaws

These Bylaws have been established to govern and help guide the activities of the Board and its officers.

1.0 TRUSTEES AND OFFICERS

- 1.1 Trustees of the Board must reside in the District. The Board consists of seven people.
- 1.2 At least two of the Trustees shall reside in the Village of Northfield and at least three shall reside in the Village of Winnetka.
- 1.3 Trustee terms will be four years.
- 1.4 Vacancies on the Board may be filled by appointment of the remaining Trustees, as specified by Illinois Law.
- 1.5 The Board shall retain the names of alternate candidates nominated by the Winnetka Caucus Council or the Northfield Caucus, as appropriate, and shall consult the alternate slate in the event of a vacancy.
- 1.6 The offices shall be President, Vice-President, Secretary, and Treasurer. The office of Vice President may be combined with that of Secretary or Treasurer. All officers shall be members of the Board.
- 1.7 The slate of officers shall be nominated by the Trustees following the Oath of Office after the election of Trustees.
- 1.8 Officers of the Board of Trustees shall be elected to a two-year term on the third Monday in May and shall take office immediately. No officer shall hold that office for more than two consecutive terms. In case of the resignation of an officer or inability to perform the duties of the office, the successor shall be elected to fill the unexpired term at the next meeting of the Board.
- 1.9 One Winnetka Trustee will be appointed to serve as the District's representative and a voting member on the Winnetka Village Plan Commission. Two other Trustees will be designated liaisons to the Village of Winnetka and the Village of Northfield.

2.0 DUTIES AND AUTHORITIES

- 2.1 The President shall preside over all meetings of the Board and set the Board meeting agenda. The President shall appoint Trustees to Committees based on the recommendations of, and in consultation with, the Board.
- 2.2 The Vice-President shall serve as President in the President's absence.

Board of Library Trustees By-laws

- 2.3 The Secretary shall oversee records, including the minutes of all meetings, the names of those in attendance, the ordinances enacted, resolutions, rules and regulations adopted, and all other pertinent written matter as affect the operation of the District.
- 2.4 The Treasurer shall be the financial officer of the Board. The Treasurer shall oversee records of the District, including a record of all receipts, disbursements, and balances in any funds. At the end of the fiscal year, an audit shall be performed and accompanied by the professional opinion of an accountant certified to practice public accounting under the laws of the State of Illinois. The Treasurer shall give bond to the District to discharge faithfully the duties of the office. The minimum amount of the bond shall be based upon 50% of the total annual library taxes collected by the District. The cost of any surety bond shall be borne by the District.
- 2.5 The Library Director shall be the Operating Officer of the Library District and shall have charge of the administration of the library under the direction and review of the Board. The Director shall prepare an annual budget, a Budget and Appropriation Ordinance, and a Levy Ordinance for Board approval, see that books of account are kept in which all financial transactions of the Library District are accurately recorded, shall receive all bills, ascertain their correctness, and prepare checks in payment, and shall prepare minutes of all meetings for the approval of the Board and signatures of the President and Secretary.

The Library Director shall be responsible for the recruitment, selection, and appointment of staff members and their direction. The Library Director shall have the authority to accept resignations from or institute dismissal procedures against staff members. Subject to Board approval, the Library Director shall authorize staff salaries within the framework of the schedule of salary ranges as set forth by the Board. The Library Director shall be responsible for the care of the buildings and equipment and shall place all orders for books and supplies and order all emergency repairs. The Library Director shall attend the meetings of the Board and shall submit a monthly report of the operations of the Library. The Library Director shall submit an Annual Report (IPLAR: Illinois Public Library Annual Report) of the operations of the library no later than the September meeting.

The Library Director shall keep the Board informed of all changes in applicable legislation and regulations.

3.0 COMMITTEES

- 3.1 Any recommendation by a Committee must be presented to the Board of Trustees for action.
- 3.2 Any proposed expenses incurred by a Committee must be approved in advance by the Board of Trustees.
- 3.3 Persons who are not Trustees may be appointed to Committees.
- 3.4 The Board of Trustees may add, delete, or change the duties of a Committee by an affirmative vote of a majority of the quorum.
- 3.5 Special Committees may be created by the Board of Trustees to address a specific issue or issues by an affirmative vote of a majority of the quorum. Each such Special Committee shall be disbanded upon completion of its assigned task(s) or by vote of a majority of the quorum.

Board of Library Trustees By-laws

4.0 MEETINGS

- 4.1 The regular monthly meeting of the Board of Trustees shall be held in the main library or the branch at 7:00pm on the third Monday of each month. The board may hold study sessions which will be on a schedule determined at the beginning of the fiscal year, and be listed on the Ordinance Setting the Schedule of Regular Meetings of the Board of Trustees. The Board may, by majority vote, change the date, time, or place of the Board meeting.
- 4.2 A quorum for the transaction of business shall consist of four (4) Trustees.
- 4.3 If a quorum is physically present, a majority of the Board members present may allow another Board member to attend the meeting by an audio or video link (Other Means) if that member is prevented from physically attending because of (i) personal illness or disability, (ii) employment purposes or the business of the Library Board, or (iii) a family or another emergency. If a member wishes to attend a meeting by Other Means, the member must notify the Library Director or a Board officer no less than one hour before the meeting is scheduled to begin.
- 4.4 Special Meetings may be called by the President or the Secretary or by any four (4) Trustees, by written notice posted at least 48 hours immediately preceding the day of the Special Meeting, or by oral notice to all Trustees in the case of a stated emergency.
- 4.5 A Trustee who misses more than three of the regular monthly meetings in a calendar year may be asked by the Board of Trustees, at its discretion, to submit his or her resignation.
- 4.6 All meetings must comply with the Illinois Open Meetings Act.
- 4.7 No Trustee or employee of the Library shall engage in any business or transaction, or have a financial or personal interest, whether directly or indirectly, that is incompatible with the proper discharge of his or her official duties in the public interest, or that may tend to impair his or her independence of judgment or action in the performance of such official duties. Any member of the Board who has any interest of a financial or personal nature in a matter before the Board shall recuse him/herself from discussion and abstain from voting on said matter.

All Trustees must file the Disclosure of Economic Interests Statement as required by the Illinois Governmental Ethics Act. [5 ILCS 420/4A-101]

5.0 ORDER OF BUSINESS

THE ORDER OF BUSINESS AT A REGULAR MEETING OF THE BOARD SHALL BE AT LEAST AS FOLLOWS:

- | | |
|------------------------------------|--------------------------------|
| I. Call to Order | VII. Liaison/Committee Reports |
| II. Roll Call | VIII. Unfinished Business |
| III. Public Comments | IX. New Business |
| IV. Vote to Approve Consent Agenda | X. Public Comments |
| V. Financial Report | XI. Adjournment |
| VI. Library Report | |

Board of Library Trustees By-laws

6.0 DISBURSEMENTS

- 6.1 Disbursements of funds drawn against the General Fund of the Library for amounts of \$1,500.00 or more shall be authorized by any two of the following: President, Vice-President, Treasurer, and Library Director.
- 6.2 Disbursements of funds drawn against the General Fund for amounts under \$1,500.00 shall be authorized by any one of the officials designated above.
- 6.3 Trustee expenses in excess of \$200 per expense for library-related matters, such as membership in library associations, education activities, and attendance at meetings, shall not be paid by the District without prior approval of the Board.

7.0 RULES AND REGULATIONS

- 7.1 The Board of Trustees shall prepare the rules and regulations of the Library and designate the days and hours of service. The Library District shall publicly post this information. The Board shall establish, equip, and maintain the Library for the greatest benefit to the greatest number of residents in the District.
- 7.2 Communications to and from the Board:
- 7.2.1 Board members' substantive questions or communications to staff shall be channeled through the Director's Office.
- 7.2.2 All communications, including electronic communications, to, by, and between Board members, in their capacity as Board members, shall be conducted in accordance with the provisions of the Illinois Open Meetings Act.

8.0 AMENDMENTS

These By-laws may be amended by a vote of a majority of a quorum of the Board.

Approved:

July 16, 1981

Revised:

March 21, 1983

January 21, 1985

January 19, 1987

September 19, 1994

January 16, 1995

February 20, 1995

September 21, 1998

March 18, 2002

September 23, 2002

January 17, 2005

October 17, 2005

December 11, 2006

August 20, 2007

April 18, 2011

October 17, 2016